Professional Service Industries, Inc.

Appendix

NOTICE OF VIOLATION

License No. 12-21501-01

As a result of the inspection conducted on May 15-16, 1985, and in accordance
with the General Policy and Procedures for NRC Enforcement Actions, (10 CFR
Part 2, Appendix C), the following violations were identified:

1.

License Condition No. 16 requires that licensed material be possessed
and used in accordance with the statements, representations, and
procedures contained in certain referenced applications and letters.

The referenced application dated February 25, 1982 as amended July 19,
1982 states in paragraph 3.0 that each radiographer and each
radiographer's assistant will be inspected by the radiation safety
officer at intervals not to exceed 3 months.

Contrary to this requirement, the radiation safety officer failed to
inspect radiographers and radiographer's assistants at the proper
intervals. Specifically, the radiation safety officer failed to
inspect a radiographer who performed radiography during the period from
September 30, 1984 to the day of the inspection, May 16, 1985, failed
to inspect a radiographer who performed radiography from June 27, 1984
to January 25, 1985, and failed to inspect a radiographer's assistant
who worked with radiographers on numerous occasions in 1984.

This is a Severity Level IV violation (Supplement VI).

10 CFR 34.31(a)(4) requires that the licensee not permit an individual

to act as a radiographer until such individual has demonstrated an
understanding of the instructions in paragraph (a) by successful
completion of a written test and a field examination on the subjects
covered. 10 CFR 34.31(c) requires that training records be maintained
for three years, and should include copies of the written tests and dates
of oral tests and field examinations.

Contrary to this requirement, the licensee failed to maintain copies of
the written test or the dates of oral tests and field examination
completed by an individual who acted as a radiographer at one of the
licensee's field sites during the period from February 18, 1985 to
February 21, 1985, although the licensee did maintain a copy of the
radiographer's recertification examination completed on January 25, 1985.

This is a Severity Level V violation (Supplement VI).



Appendix 2

3. 10 CFR 34.28(b) requires each licensee to cunduct a program for
inspection and maintenance of radiographic exposure devices, storage
containers and source changers at intervals not to exceed three months.

Contrary to this requirement, the licensee failed to inspect exposure
devices, storage containers and sour:e changers used since December 7y
1984 to the day of the inspection, May 16, 1985, a period exceeding
three months.

This is a Severity Level IV violation (Supplement VI).

4. 34.33(a) requires that each film badge or TLD be worn by only one
individual.

Contrary to this requirement, the licensee permitted an individual to wear
a film badge during the period from February 18, 1985 to February 21,
1985, and that film badge was originally assigned to an employee who had
terminated prior to February 18, 1985.

This is a Severity Level IV violation (Supplement VI).

5. 10 CFR 71.12(a)(b)(c)(3) requires that each licensee who transports
licensed material in a package for which a license, Certificate of
Cempliance, or other approval has been issued by the NRC, shall have a
quality assurance program approved by the Commission as satisfying the
provisions of Subpart H of this part, and that the Ticensee submits in
writing to the Director, Office of Nuclear Material Safety and Safeguards,
U. S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Washington, D.C. 20555 prior to the
licensee's first use of the package, this submittal must include the
Ticensee's name and license number and the package identification number
specified in the package approval.

Contrary to this requirement, the licensee has routinely transported
licensed material since December 12, 1983 in packages for which a
license, Certificate of Compliance, or other approval has been issued by
the NRC, and the licensee failed to submit a quality assurance program to
the NRC for approval, and failed to submit in writing to the Commission
prior to first use of the packages, the licensee's name and license
number and the package identification number specified in the package
approval.

This is a Severity Level IV violation (Supplement V).

Pursuant to the provisions of 10 CFR 2.201, you are required to submit to
this office within thirty days of the date of this Notice a written statement
or explanation in reply, including for each item of noncompliance: (1) cor-
rective action taken and the results achieved; (2) corrective action to be
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taken to avoid further noncompliance; and (3) the date when full compliance

will be achieved. Consideration may be given to extending your response time
for good cause shown.

MAY 2 4 1385 a// .
Dated : . @. Wiedeman, Chief

Nuclear Materials Safety Section 1




